FILED NOV 09 2016 WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

No. 74413-5

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION I**

LORI ANN HULL,

Appellant,

v.

PEACEHEALTH,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME **COURT**

The Law Office of Gress & Clark

Michael J. Godfrey, WSBA No. 49098 James L. Gress, WSBA No. 25731 Of Attorneys for Respondent 9020 SW Washington Square Road, Ste 560 Portland, Oregon 97223

(971) 285-3525

II.	IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER		
III.	INTRODUCTION	1	
IV.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW	2	
	1. Did Ms. Hull's conditions diagnosed as thoracic outlet syndrome and sequelae arise naturally and proximately from the distinctive conditions of her employment prior to October 23, 2006, which was the date her claim was filed?		
	2. Did the Court of Appeals abuse its discretion when it denied PeaceHealth's Motion for Reconsideration?		
V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	3	
VI.	ARGUMENT	8	
	1. Ms. Hull's thoracic outlet syndrome did not arise naturally and proximately from the distinctive conditions of her employment as of the date she filed the claim, October 23, 2006		
	b. WAC 296-14-350 and the Industrial Insurance Act supports PeaceHealth's position that an occupational disease must arise naturally and proximately from the distinctive conditions of employment prior to the date of claim filing10		
	c. <u>Applying the law to the facts in this case,</u> <u>Ms. Hull's thoracic outlet syndrome and sequelae did not arise naturally and</u>		

2.	The Court of Appeals all not granting PeaceH Reconsideration	lealth's	Motion	for

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases:

Dennis v. Department of Labor & Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467 (1987)
Ehman v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 33 Wn.2d 584; 206 P.2d 787 (1949)
Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals Significant Decisions:
In re: Mike J. Rasmussen, BIIA Dec. 09 14857 (2009)8-10
Washington Statutes and administrative rules:
WAC 296-14-35010
RCW 51.32.080(7)10
RCW 51.32.080(1)(b)(ii)11
RCW 51.08.178(1)
Other Publications:
Permanent Partial Disability Awards Schedules – Appendix 1

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

This petition is brought by PeaceHealth, a self-insured employer, who was the respondent in the litigation in Court of Appeals Division One Docket No. 74413-5-I. PeaceHealth is the self-insured employer responsible for Industrial Insurance Claim No. SB43989. The claim was filed by Ms. LoriAnn Hull on or about **October 23, 2006.** (Clerks Papers, herein "CP" at 94 & 250-251).

II. INTRODUCTION

On September 26, 2016, under Docket No. 74413-5-I, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion in which they reversed the trial court and found in favor of LoriAnn Hull. They held that Ms. Hull's thoracic outlet syndrome and sequelae arose naturally and proximately out of the distinctive conditions of her employment with PeaceHealth. Due to the fact that the Court of Appeals considered work exposure that occurred subsequent to the date that Ms. Hull filed her industrial claim, PeaceHealth filed a motion for reconsideration on October 4, 2016. The Court of Appeals issued an Order denying PeaceHealth's motion for reconsideration on October 10, 2016.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, PeaceHealth requests that the Supreme Court grant review of both the Court of Appeals Decision dated September 26, 2016 and of the Court of Appeals Order Denying PeaceHealth's Motion for Reconsideration dated October 10, 2016.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did Ms. Hull's condition diagnosed as thoracic outlet syndrome and sequelae arise naturally and proximately from the distinctive conditions of her employment prior to October 23, 2006, which was the date her claim was filed?

The Supreme Court should grant review of this case because the Court of Appeals based its decision in consideration of Ms. Hull's work exposure that occurred after October 23, 2006. PeaceHealth believes the Court of Appeals erred as a matter of law. This case gives the Supreme Court an opportunity to substantiate the law as it is currently applied before the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. It additionally gives the Court an opportunity to clarify to lower courts that a fact-finder may only consider work exposure that occurred prior to the date that the claim was filed when evaluating which condition(s) are compensable as an occupational disease.

2. Did the Court of Appeals abuse its discretion when it denied PeaceHealth's Motion for Reconsideration?

In its decision, the Court of Appeals relied upon an application of the law that was not raised by Ms. Hull, nor was this application consistent with the law as it exists within the Industrial Insurance Act or with the law applied by the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals and by the Department of Labor & Industries. In all likelihood, this was presumably due to inconsistencies in the record and in the pleadings, compounded by

the lack of oral argument. If the Court had reconsidered its opinion, it would have likely held that Ms. Hull's thoracic outlet syndrome should not have been allowed under this claim because the medical evidence overwhelmingly attributed its cause to work exposure that occurred after Ms. Hull's claim was filed on or about October 23, 2006.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Procedural History:</u>

Ms. Hull worked for PeaceHealth as an admitting representative and registration specialist in the emergency room. CP at 231. She filed an occupational disease claim for bilateral medial epicondylitis on October 23, 2006. CP at 94.

On September 13, 2013, the Department of Labor & Industries ("Department") directed PeaceHealth to accept thoracic outlet syndrome under the claim. PeaceHealth protested this order and on October 17, 2013, the Department amended the September 13, 2013 order and directed PeaceHealth to also accept pulmonary conditions, balance problems, dysphagia, and cricopharyngeal spasms as a consequence of Ms. Hull's subsequent treatment for thoracic outlet syndrome. The Department had also issued an order on May 1, 2013, directing PeaceHealth to allow an adjustment disorder with depressed mood condition as part of the occupational disease. For the purpose of this petition, these secondary conditions are herein referred to as the "sequelae" of Ms. Hull's thoracic

outlet syndrome. PeaceHealth does not dispute that the sequelae are related to the thoracic outlet syndrome.

On October 2, 2013, the Department directed PeaceHealth to authorize and pay for the prescription medication known as Cymbalta for treatment of the claimant's alleged thoracic outlet syndrome. PeaceHealth appealed the May 1, 2013, October 2, 2013, and October 17, 2013, Department orders to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals ("Board").

A hearing was held on May 23, 2014, before an Industrial Appeals Judge. The Industrial Appeals Judge published a Proposed Decision and Order on October 6, 2014 in which she affirmed all of the Department's orders under appeal. PeaceHealth filed a Petition for Review with the Board on November 18, 2014 and the Board issued an Order Denying the Petition for Review and adopting the Proposed Decision and Order as its own on December 8, 2014. In response, PeaceHealth filed an appeal to Superior Court in Whatcom County on the basis that the Board incorrectly affirmed the Department's orders.

The Superior Court held a bench trial and issued an order on December 2, 2015, which found in favor of PeaceHealth on all issues. CP at 823. Specifically, Judge Uhrig held that the claimant's thoracic outlet syndrome and sequelae did not arise naturally and proximately from Ms. Hull's distinctive conditions of employment. CP at 828. The Court of Appeals subsequently reversed Judge Uhrig's decision when it held that the thoracic outlet syndrome was allowable under this occupational

disease claim "because she began feeling pain in her shoulder about five months after filing the claim for her bilateral elbow condition and in those five months she continued to work." (Court of Appeals Dec. No 74413-5-I, at 8).

2. Summary of the Evidence:

While working for PeaceHealth, Ms. Hull's job duties included gathering and inputting patient information onto paper and then into the PeaceHealth's computer system. CP at 209-217. Ms. Hull sought medical treatment in late 2006 for pain in both her elbows. She was diagnosed with bilateral medial epicondylitis (golfer's elbow) when she initially filed her industrial insurance claim. CP at 239 & 251. Her bilateral elbow condition was allowed as a condition proximately caused by her distinctive conditions of employment. CP at 94.

Ms. Hull was released from work for a short time and then returned to work, at which point she indicated that she performed less reaching in the course of her job duties. CP at 260. However, roughly five months after she filed her claim for the bilateral elbow condition, she subsequently developed symptoms in her left shoulder and underwent a shoulder surgery. *Id.* Following the surgery, she complained of numbness, tingling, and temperature changes in her left upper arm. CP at 262. After her symptoms did not resolve, she underwent a thoracic outlet surgery which was followed by alleged muscle spasms and loss of balance. CP at

245. Additionally, she began to suffer from mental health problems following her second surgery. CP at 246.

Dr. Kremer, a general vascular and thoracic surgeon, conducted an Independent Medical Examination ("IME") on September 2, 2012. CP at 460 and 466. He indicated that Ms. Hull's occupational disease claim was initially the bilateral elbow condition and that her thoracic outlet syndrome did not develop until an entire year after she had filed her claim. CP at 477. He specifically stated that the diagnostic imaging studies from February of 2007 showed no indication of thoracic outlet syndrome. CP at 479. He also testified that there was no evidence that her thoracic condition and sequelae were proximately caused by her distinctive conditions of employment through November of 2006 because there would have been evidence of the condition in February of 2007. CP at 478-479. He also indicated that usually if a person has thoracic outlet syndrome, the symptoms will actively manifest when the person is doing the activity that is causing the condition. CP at 480.

Dr. Hughes, a general practitioner, evaluated Ms. Hull multiple times as her primary care physician prior to and subsequent to her filing the claim for bilateral epicondylitis in October of 2006. At the time the claim was filed, he indicated that the medical evidence showed that her only diagnosable condition and symptom complex was bilateral medial epicondylitis. CP at 437 and 441. He treated her in November of 2006 after she filed the claim and diagnosed her with bilateral medial

epicondylitis. CP at 439. When he saw Ms. Hull in January of 2007, he indicated that her condition had not changed in comparison with her presentation in November of 2006. *Id.* He referred her for electrodiagnostic studies which were performed on February 9, 2007 and did not show any evidence of thoracic outlet syndrome. CP at 440. He indicated that Ms. Hull reported that she was experiencing pain in her shoulder in July of 2007. CP at 441. He testified that she had no evidence of thoracic outlet syndrome up through July of 2007. CP at 445.

Dr. Hughes further indicated that if repetitive activity was going to cause or worsen thoracic outlet syndrome, he would expect the symptoms to be close in time to such an activity. CP at 450. He stated the symptoms, if due to repetitive work activity, would not come on over a year later. CP at 450-451. Finally, he concluded there was no connection between her thoracic outlet syndrome and the elbow condition. CP at 451.

According to Dr. Johansen, the doctor who performed Ms. Hull's shoulder surgeries, she did not have symptoms consistent with thoracic outlet syndrome when she initially filed her claim for her bilateral elbow condition. CP at 752-753. In fact, Dr. Johansen indicated that she had actually developed the thoracic outlet syndrome sometime after November 2006. *Id*.

Dr. Johansen also admitted that his ultimate opinion in regards to what caused her thoracic outlet syndrome was based on employment conditions that occurred after the date of claim allowance. CP at 754-755.

During cross-examination, Dr. Johansen admitted that "like all of the consultants, I continue to be uncertain about exactly what is going on with [Ms. Hull]." CP at 765.

V. ARGUMENT

1. Ms. Hull's thoracic outlet syndrome did not arise naturally and proximately from the distinctive conditions of her employment as of the date she filed the claim, October 23, 2006.

Pursuant to RCW 51.08.140, an "occupational disease" means such disease or infection that arises naturally and proximately out of employment. A valid claim for occupational disease is a claim for exposure to distinctive conditions of employment causing a disease to develop. *Dennis v. Department of Labor & Indus.*, 745 P.2d 1295; 109 Wn.2d 467 (1987). Furthermore, according to the *Dennis* decision, "the causal connection between a claimant's physical condition and his or her employment must be established by competent medical testimony which shows that the disease is probably, as opposed to possibly, caused by the employment." 109 Wn.2d 467, at 477 (citing *Ehman v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 33 Wn.2d 584; 206 P.2d 787 (1949)).

a. The Court should confirm the Board's Significant Decision and hold that occupational diseases must be based on distinctive conditions of employment prior to the date of claim filing.

According to a significant decision of the Board, in an adjudication regarding benefits stemming from an occupational disease, the adjudicator should only consider the employment through the date of claim filing. *In re: Mike J. Rasmussen*, BIIA Dec. 09 14857, at 10-11 (2009). In that case,

the Board was asked to determine whether an injured worker sustained an occupational disease prior to filing the claim or whether the occupational disease occurred after the claim was filed, thus making another employer responsible due to the last injurious exposure rule. As the Board noted, the last injurious exposure rule is intended to mitigate the burden on the worker in proving which employers were responsible for causing the occupational condition. *Id.* at 7. They further concluded that "the filing of a claim for an occupational disease requires consideration of the existence of a medical condition arising naturally and proximately out of the conditions of a worker's employment in addition to a determination of the insurer on the risk as of the last injurious exposure giving rise to the claim." *Id.* at 9.

In the *Rasmussen* significant decision, the Board reasoned that the adjudicator should only consider the employment through the date of claim filing because workers and potential subsequent employers would be subject to the uncertainty of who is responsible to pay benefits. *Id.* at 10.

If this rule is not followed, a worker could hypothetically sustain an occupational disease under one employer and then switch employers and potentially have a condition caused by the second employment exposure covered under the claim for the first employer. This would be contrary to the last injurious exposure rule. It would also be fundamentally unfair to the first employer who could potentially be subject to the risk

associated with employment exposure that is not of its own control. In the case at hand, Ms. Hull was working for the same employer – although with different working conditions – but the rule should still apply nonetheless because a worker could change job duties while with the same employer.

Additionally, as the Board pointed out in *Rasmussen*, but for the rule barring an inquiry into work exposure subsequent to the date of claim filing, "an incomplete or disputed claim could have a chilling effect on the employability of workers with occupational disease claims in progress." *Id.* at 10. This would be detrimental to injured workers who have suffered an occupational disease and are looking for new employment.

b. WAC 296-14-350 and the Industrial Insurance Act supports PeaceHealth's position that an occupational disease must arise naturally and proximately from the distinctive conditions of employment prior to the date of claim filing.

Pursuant to WAC 296-14-350 which states that "the liable insurer in occupational disease cases is the insurer on risk at the time of the last injurious exposure to the injurious substance or hazard of disease during employment [covered by the Industrial Insurance Act] which gave rise to the claim for compensation." This administrative rule implies that the only employment exposure that should be considered when determining compensability is the employment of the last injurious exposure prior to filing the claim. In Ms. Hull's case, the last injurious exposure rule is not an issue in dispute because she continued to work for PeaceHealth in

various limited capacities, but the rule should still apply for a number of reasons.

For example, pursuant to RCW 51.32.080(7), the monetary value of an injured worker's permanent partial disability ("PPD") award is governed by the schedule in effect at the date of injury or claim filing for an occupational disease. These schedules increase annually by amounts determined by the Department. Specifically, RCW 51.32.080(1)(b)(ii) states that awards for PPD shall be annually readjusted to reflect the percentage change in the consumer price index. The Department adjusts the value of the total body impairment and then all partial impairments are apportioned based upon a percentage of the total body impairment. If adjudicators were to look beyond the date of claim filing for injured workers, then it is likely the workers would be unjustly harmed by having what should be new claims, ham-fisted into previously filed claims in order to lower potential exposure for PPD awards. In fact, by looking at Ms. Hull's case, we can see how this framework would be detrimental to injured workers.

In the matter currently under dispute, the Court of Appeals indicated Ms. Hull's thoracic outlet syndrome and sequelae should be covered under this claim which was filed in 2006. However, her thoracic outlet syndrome did not manifest until the second half of 2007 and, according to the medical experts, it was not proximately caused by the work exposure prior to her filing the claim. If she would have filed a new

occupational disease claim for her thoracic outlet syndrome and received PPD, it would be based on the schedule for the year 2007. Assuming her impairment ratings for the thoracic outlet syndrome and the sequelae would have been the same regardless of which claim it was under, she would receive a larger PPD award under the properly filed 2007 claim. The monetary difference between 2006 and 2007 total body impairment value is roughly \$5,000.00. Even a one-year difference can be substantial, but the economic harm to the injured worker could be potentially much worse for each additional year. This could potentially incentivize employers to group subsequent new injuries or occupational diseases into previously filed occupational claims to avoid paying larger PPD awards.

Additionally, an injured worker faces more monetary risk pursuant to RCW 51.08.178(1), which states that "the monthly wages an injured worker was receiving from all employment at the time of injury shall be the basis upon which compensation is computed unless otherwise provided specifically in the statute concerned." Hypothetically, one can envision a scenario where an injured worker suffered an occupational disease, subsequently gets a substantial pay raise, and then sustains a new and unrelated disease two years later. If the worker's new disease is grouped under the previous claim, then any time-loss compensation would be received at a much lower wage than if a new claim was filed.

.

¹ Comparing the *Permanent Partial Disability Category Awards* published by the Department of Labor & Industries on an annual basis. Appendix – 1.

As one can see based on the PPD and time-loss statutes, workers receive benefit when occupational diseases only consider work exposure prior to the date of claim filing. As such, it is essential for both injured workers and employers to administer occupational disease claims based on employment exposure that has already occurred and not subsequent employment exposure.

Essentially, the law can be succinctly summarized accordingly: If an injured worker who filed an occupational disease claim later works for the same or a subsequent employer and sustains a new condition or disease; then the trier-of-fact must determine whether it was a late arising disease or whether it relates back to the original condition for which the claim was filed. If the condition was not a late arising disease and was not secondary to the original condition, then a new claim must be filed. That is exactly what occurred in Ms. Hull's case and she should have filed a new occupational disease claim.

c. Applying the law to the facts in this case, Ms. Hull's thoracic outlet syndrome and sequelae did not arise naturally and proximately from the distinctive conditions of employment as of October 23, 2006.

As discussed in the factual summary, a substantial amount of medical evidence exists showing that Ms. Hull's thoracic outlet syndrome and sequelae did not arise naturally and proximately from the distinctive conditions of employment prior to October 23, 2006. The testimony of Dr. Kremer and Dr. Hughes both testified that Ms. Hull did not have thoracic outlet syndrome as of February 2017, according to objective

diagnostic testing. This was roughly four months after the claim was filed. In fact, there was no evidence of any shoulder pain or symptoms of thoracic outlet syndrome until July of 2007.

Even more persuasively, there is absolutely no evidence showing that Ms. Hull's thoracic outlet syndrome was proximately caused by work exposure prior to October 23, 2006. Dr. Johansen admitted that she did not have symptoms consistent with thoracic outlet syndrome when she initially filed her claim for her bilateral elbow condition. All three medical doctors who testified regarding the causation of thoracic outlet syndrome indicated that they would expect the condition to manifest concurrently with the activity that is causing it. This is to say that employment conditions that occurred in 2006 would not have caused thoracic outlet syndrome to manifest in July of 2007. In fact, Dr. Johansen admitted during cross-examination that Ms. Hull had actually developed her thoracic outlet syndrome sometime after 2006. This admission means that there is absolutely no evidence linking Ms. Hull's thoracic outlet syndrome to her distinctive conditions of employment prior to when the claim was filed on October 23, 2006.

2. The Court of Appeals abused its discretion by not granting PeaceHealth's Motion for Reconsideration.

Pursuant to RAP 12.4(c), a party may raise with particularity the points of law or fact which the moving party contends the Court has overlooked or misapprehended when requesting reconsideration. Here, PeaceHealth did just that and the Court denied its motion for

reconsideration which, considering the points of law raised, was an abuse of the Court's discretion. In its earlier briefing and in the record, both parties did not address the issue regarding what period of employment should be considered in contemplation of whether the thoracic outlet syndrome should be accepted under the claim. Perhaps it was taken for granted by the trial court and the parties that the occupational disease analysis was retrospective in terms of which employment exposure was under consideration. Regardless, the Court of Appeals should have reexamined its opinion when PeaceHealth pointed out that only that employment exposure that should be considered is that which occurred prior to the claim filing.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Supreme Court should grant review because the decision by the Court of Appeals is inconsistent with existing law. Ms. Hull filed her occupational disease claim on October 23, 2006. As a matter of law, if her thoracic outlet syndrome is going to be covered under the claim, then it must have arisen naturally and proximately out of the distinctive conditions of her employment prior to October 23, 2006. The Court of Appeals incorrectly relied upon conditions of employment subsequent to the claim being filed. By granting review, the Supreme Court has an opportunity to clarify any ambiguity currently held by lower courts. If the Court is unwilling to grant review, then it should remand this back to the

regarding whether the thoracic outlet syndrome and sequelae should be allowed under this claim.

The Law Office of Gress & Clark

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