RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jan 05, 2017, 3:58 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93816-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LORI ANN HULL,

Respondent,

v.

PEACEHEALTH MEDICAL GROUP

Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Anastasia Sandstrom Senior Counsel WSBA No. 24163 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Ave., Ste. 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6993

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. PeaceHealth Raises No Meritorious Reason Under RAP 13.4 for Review

PeaceHealth cites generally to RAP 13.4 to ask for review, but it does not specify on which ground it relies. Pet. at 1. It only claims legal error, but this Court does not review cases solely to determine if legal error occurred. *See* RAP 13.4(b). Here, PeaceHealth raises no meritorious reason for review.

The Industrial Insurance Act provides coverage for occupational diseases that arise naturally and proximately out of the distinctive conditions of employment. RCW 51.08.140; RCW 51.32.180; *Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 109 Wn.2d 467, 481–82, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987). A typical occupational disease is a condition caused by repetitive stress. *E.g., Dennis*, 109 Wn.2d at 469 (occupational disease caused by repetitive

metal snipping). As the Board recognizes, the Department looks to the occupational exposure before and as of the time of claim filing to determine if an occupational disease exists, and generally does not consider occupational exposure occurring after the claim filing. *In re Mike J. Rasmussen*, 09 14857, 2011 WL 1451199, at *8 (Wash. Bd. Ind. Ins. App. Feb. 3, 2011). Occupational exposure is the work conditions that cause the occupational disease.

If PeaceHealth is correct that the claimed condition—thoracic outlet syndrome—was caused by exposure that occurred only after Hull filed the claim, then PeaceHealth would not be responsible for the condition under this claim. (Hull could, however, file a new occupational disease claim.) But PeaceHealth misstates the record.

Contrary to PeaceHealth's characterization of his testimony, Dr.

Johansen opined that the thoracic outlet syndrome was caused by exposure both before and after Hull filed her occupational disease claim. CP 755. So under his testimony the pre-claim filing exposure was a cause of the

⁴ The Court of Appeals misstated PeaceHealth's position to state that PeaceHealth believed the injury should have occurred before claim allowance. *Hull*, slip op. at 9 n.9. But, as *Rasmussen* makes clear, it is work exposure before the date of claim filing that is examined. *Rasmussen*, 2011 WL 1451199, at *8. The Board and the Department follow the correct approach, and the Court of Appeals' stray footnote that obliquely contradicts the Board in an unpublished decision does not merit review. In any event, the court defers to the Board's and Department's interpretation of the Industrial Insurance Act in its decisions. *Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Tri*, 117 Wn.2d 128, 138, 814 P.2d 629 (1991); *Jones v. City of Olympia*, 171 Wn. App. 614, 621, 287 P.3d 687 (2012).

condition, and Hull's work conditions are a proximate cause of the thoracic outlet syndrome. *See Wendt v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 18 Wn. App. 674, 683–84, 571 P.2d 229 (1977) (injury need only be a cause of condition, not the cause). So PeaceHealth does not demonstrate that Hull relied on post-claim filing evidence only, and review should not be granted on this ground.

B. If the Court Takes Review, Which It Should Not, It Should Consider Whether Substantial Evidence Supports the Trial Court's Finding That Thoracic Outlet Syndrome Did Not Arise Naturally and Proximately Out of Employment

The Department does not think the Court should take review for two reasons. First, PeaceHealth has not articulated a reason justifying review as explained above. *See* Part IV.A. Second, the Court of Appeals got the result right in this case. Hull, now pro se, is entitled to her treatment benefits for the reasons explained below in Part IV.C, which discusses how workers are entitled to treatment benefits if their employers authorize the treatment and it goes wrong.

PeaceHealth chose a strategy of seeking review on a claim that

Hull's condition was caused solely by work conditions that arose after

claim filing. PeaceHealth did not seek review of whether the Court of

Appeals correctly applied the substantial evidence standard of review.

PeaceHealth should not now be able to raise it as a reason to seek review

as RAP 13.4 does not allow a party to belatedly raise new issues for review.⁵ In any event, the Court of Appeals' mistake is just legal error, and does not justify review.

But if the Court takes review, it should reverse the Court of Appeals' ruling that substantial evidence did not support the trial court's decision. Under the substantial evidence standard of review, the court will not reweigh the evidence. *Raum v. City of Bellevue*, 171 Wn. App. 124, 151, 286 P.3d 695 (2012). The court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party. *Frank Coluccio Constr. Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 181 Wn. App. 25, 35, 329 P.3d 91 (2014).

The trial court found that Hull's thoracic outlet syndrome did not proximately and naturally arise out of her employment. CP 828.⁶

Substantial evidence supports this finding. Dr. Kremer testified that Hull's work conditions did not cause thoracic outlet syndrome. CP 485–86. The Court of Appeals discounted Dr. Kremer's testimony because he "testified that the working conditions of hairdressers and carpenters would cause

⁵ RAP 13.4(d) allows a reply to the new issues in the Department's answer. But this does not permit PeaceHealth to belatedly seek review on those issues.

⁶ This is actually incorrectly denominated as a conclusion. CP 828. The judgment is confusing in that there is also a finding that suggests that the thoracic outlet syndrome arose out of employment. CP 826. But reading the judgment as a whole shows that this was likely reflecting what the procedural history of the claim was and not the trial court's ultimate ruling.

thoracic outlet syndrome, but he denied that Hull's out in front and overhead use of her arms caused it." *Hull*, slip op. at 9. It also criticized his reliance on electrodiagnostic testing. *Id*.

But considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, as is done on substantial evidence review, shows that Dr. Kremer's testimony should not be disregarded. He took into account Hull's job duties when rendering his opinion. CP 471, 478. Part of her work duties were to use her arms in front and overhead, but this work was only one portion of her work as she did a number of tasks. CP 825–26. Dr. Kremer was specifically asked whether her work retrieving empty files on shelves (the overhead work) and building a chart at waist height would cause thoracic outlet syndrome. CP 478. He replied, "It was not an activity that I would expect to be seen with thoracic outlet syndrome symptoms." CP 478. He said her work was not comparable to hairdresser's work. CP 479.

It is unusual for the Court of Appeals to misapply substantial evidence principles, and this legal error does not merit taking review. But if review is taken, the Court of Appeals' ruling on this point should be reversed.

C. If the Court Takes Review, Which Again It Should Not, Then It Should Grant Review to Consider the Compensable Consequences Doctrine's Applicability

Review should not be granted. But if review is granted, the Court should apply the compensable consequences doctrine. PeaceHealth authorized the surgery and then four years later claimed it was not responsible for the consequences of the surgery because it claimed that the thoracic outlet syndrome was not caused by the occupational disease. But having authorized the surgery, under the compensable consequences doctrine it is responsible for the serious consequences that it is undisputed that the surgery caused.

The trial court erroneously concluded that, in industrial insurance cases, an employer's payment for treatment does not mean that the employer is responsible for the consequences of that treatment, absent proof the condition that the treatment provided was itself related to the occupational disease:

The payment for medical treatment or service for a condition does not remove the requirement that such condition, medical treatment or service be proximately related to the industrial injury/occupational disease and the employer is not estopped from challenging ultimate responsibility for such condition, medical treatment or service where such previous payment has occurred.

CP 837–38. As Hull argued below, this ruling and the concomitant decision to strike evidence was in error. *E.g.*, Br. of Appellant, at 1, 11–12.

This Court has recognized that if treatment for an occupational disease causes complications, treatment for those complications is covered under the claim. Ross v. Erickson Constr. Co, 89 Wash. 634, 647, 155 Pac. 153 (1916); see also Anderson v. Allison, 12 Wn.2d 487, 498-99, 122 P.2d 484 (1942); In re Arvid Anderson, No. 65170, 1986 WL 31849, at *1 (Wash. Bd. Ind. Ins. App. July 22, 1986). This is known as the compensable consequences doctrine. 1 Arthur Larson et al *Larson's* Workers' Compensation Law 10-1, 10-23 to 10-25 (2002). The Board has also found that this doctrine applies to surgery authorized by the Department or self-insured employer for a condition later found to be unrelated to the occupational disease. "[I]t is well-established that when . . . the worker reasonably relies on the advice of her doctors, the consequences of treatment are compensable, even if the treatment later turns out to be ill-advised or not necessitated by a condition covered under the claim." In re Ladonia M. Skinner, No. 14 10594, 2015 WL 4153105, at *3 (Wash. Bd. Ind. Ins. App. June 12, 2015) (quotations omitted). Here, PeaceHealth authorized the surgery, even though it had the opportunity then to contest whether the condition was occupationally related; it should

not be allowed to now disavow the consequences of the surgery several vears later.⁷

The Court of Appeals erred in holding that the trial court correctly excluded testimony about payment under ER 409. ER 409 provides that "[e]vidence of furnishing or offering or promising to pay medical, hospital, or similar expenses occasioned by an injury is not admissible to prove liability for the injury." This rule does not apply to workers' compensation matters. The rule is concerned with showing "liability" for an injury. But there is no "liability" for industrial injuries. RCW 51.04.010, which makes employers responsible for all injuries occurring in the course of a worker's employment irrespective of any question of fault or liability, removes any concern about fault from workers' compensation litigation. *Stertz v. Indus. Ins. Comm'n*, 91 Wash. 588, 595, 158 P. 256 (1916). Thus, the statutory scheme pays benefits due to workplace injuries and occupational diseases, and liability is not a consideration. RCW 51.04.010.

⁷ WAC 296-15-266(c)(i) requires a self-insurer to notify the worker and medical provider in writing within 60 days of receiving a treatment bill if the self-insured employer believes a condition is not caused by the occupational disease and disputes payment. If the worker contests denial of the payment, WAC 296-15-266(c)(ii) requires the self-insured employer to notify the Department. PeaceHealth presented no evidence that it complied with this regulation. It had 60 days to contest payment of the bill and the in absence of contesting the bill, the surgery is its responsibility and any consequences flowing from that surgery fall within the ambit of the authorization for the surgery. *See also* RCW 51.36.035 (self-insured employer must pay medical bills within 60 days of receipt).

The Industrial Insurance Act directs the Department to pay for proper and necessary treatment regardless of fault or liability. RCW 51.36.010; RCW 51.32.010; RCW 51.04.010. A self-insured employer administers this no-fault scheme and provides the same benefits to injured workers that the Department would pay for if the employer insured through the state fund. *Boeing Co. v. Doss*, 183 Wn.2d 54, 58, 347 P.3d 1083 (2015) ("Self-insured employers are generally responsible for all disability and medical costs associated with their workers' compensation claims.").

RCW 51.36.010 allows the Department to adopt rules that govern the provision of proper and necessary treatment. One such rule, WAC 296-20-03001, requires authorization for surgery by the self-insured employer. PeaceHealth authorized the surgery, and is now responsible for it. *Skinner*, 2015 WL 4153105, at *3. PeaceHealth argues that under RCW 51.32.190 it can offer treatment here without it creating a binding obligation. Resp't's Br. at 17. This statute only applies to payment of compensation before allowance of the claim. Even assuming this statute applied, which it does not, it would only mean that authorizing the treatment does not automatically equate to allowance of the condition (thoracic outlet syndrome) under the claim. But authorizing the surgery creates responsibility for the consequences of the surgery. If review is

granted, the Court should hold that under the compensable consequences doctrine, PeaceHealth is responsible for the consequences of the treatment it offered.

V. CONCLUSION

PeaceHealth states no reason for review under the RAP 13.4 standards, and only claims legal error based on a misunderstanding about the facts. Under these circumstances, this Court should not grant review. If review is granted, the Department requests consideration of the substantial evidence and compensable consequences doctrine issues.